Ontario Securities Commission

Rule 91-507

Unofficial consolidation current to 2025-07-25.

This document is not an official statement of law or policy and should be used for reference purposes only.

Any forms referenced in this document are available separately on the Ontario Securities Commission website.

ONTARIO SECURITIES COMMISSION RULE 91-507 DERIVATIVES: TRADE REPORTING

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Part 1 Definitions and Interpretation

Definitions and interpretation

Part 2 Trade Repository Designation and Ongoing Requirements

Trade repository initial filing of information and designation

Change in information

Filing of initial audited financial statements

Filing of annual audited and interim financial statements

Ceasing to carry on business

Legal framework

Governance

Board of directors

Management

Chief compliance officer

Fees

Access to designated trade repository services

Receiving derivatives data

Communication procedures and standards

Due process

Rules, policies and procedures

Records of data reported

Comprehensive risk-management framework

General business risk

System and other operational risks

Data security and confidentiality

Transactions executed anonymously on a derivatives trading facility

Validation of data

Verification of data

Outsourcing

Part 3 Data Reporting

Reporting counterparty

Duty to report

Verification of data

Derivatives reported in error

Notification of errors and omissions with respect to derivatives data

Transferring a derivative to a different designated trade repository

Identifiers, general

Legal entity identifiers

Maintenance and renewal of legal entity identifiers

Unique transaction identifiers

Unique product identifiers

Creation data

Lifecycle event data

Valuation data and collateral and margin data

Position level data

Pre-existing derivatives

Timing requirements for reporting data to another designated trade repository

Records of data reported

Derivatives trading facility

Part 4 Data Dissemination and Access to Data

Data available to regulators

Data available to participants

Data available to public

Part 5 Exclusions

Commodity derivatives

Derivatives between a government and its consolidated entity

Derivatives between affiliated entities

Derivatives between a non-resident derivatives dealer and a non-local counterparty

Part 6 Exemptions

Exemptions

Part 7 Effective Date

Effective date

APPENDIX A TO OSC RULE 91-507 *Derivatives: Trade Reporting* Minimum Data Elements Required to be Reported to a Designated Trade Repository

APPENDIX B TO OSC RULE 91-507 *Derivatives: Trade Reporting* Equivalent Trade Reporting Laws of Foreign Jurisdictions Subject to Deemed Compliance Pursuant to Subsection 26(5)

APPENDIX C TO OSC RULE 91-507 *Derivatives: Trade Reporting* Requirements for the Public Dissemination of Transaction Level Data

PART 1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

Definitions and interpretation

1. (1) In this Rule

"asset class" means the category of the underlying interest of a derivative and includes, for greater certainty, interest rate, foreign exchange, credit, equity and commodity;

"board of directors" means, in the case of a designated trade repository that does not have a board of directors, a group of individuals that acts in a capacity similar to a board of directors:

"collateral and margin data" means data relating to collateral or margin posted or collected as of the date of reporting, in respect of the data elements listed in Appendix A under the headings "Data Elements Related to Collateral and Margin" and "Data Elements Related to Actions and Events";

"commodity derivative" means a derivative for which the only underlying interest is a commodity other than cash or currency;

"creation data" means data in respect of the data elements listed in Appendix A, other than under the headings "Data Elements Related to Collateral and Margin" and "Data Elements Related to Valuation";

"CSA Derivatives Data Technical Manual" means the CSA Derivatives Data Technical Manual published in a Staff Notice, as amended from time to time;

The CSA Derivatives Data Technical Manual provides detailed technical specifications in connection with the data elements that are required to be reported under this Rule, including the format and allowable values for the data elements. This text box does not form part of this Rule and has no official status.

"derivatives data" means all data that is required to be reported under Part 3;

- "derivatives dealer" means either of the following:
- (a) a person or company engaging in or holding themself out as engaging in the business of trading in derivatives in Ontario as principal or agent;
- (b) any other person or company required to be registered as a derivatives dealer under securities legislation;

"Derivatives Service Bureau" means the subsidiary of the Association of National Numbering Agencies incorporated as The Derivatives Service Bureau (DSB) Limited and designated by the Financial Stability Board as both the service provider for the unique product identifier system for derivatives and the operator of the unique product identifier reference data library, or any successor thereto;

"exempt clearing agency" has the meaning ascribed to it in National Instrument 24-102 Clearing Agency Requirements;

"financial entity" means a person or company that is any of the following:

- (a) a body corporate, as defined in the *Trust and Loan Companies Act* (Canada) and to which that Act applies;
- (b) an association, as defined in the Cooperative Credit Associations Act(Canada) and to which that Act applies;
- (c) a fraternal benefit society incorporated or formed under the *Insurance Companies Act* (Canada);
- (d) a bank, loan company, loan corporation, trust company, trust corporation, factoring company, financing company, insurance company, insurance corporation, treasury branch, credit union, credit union central, caisse populaire, financial services cooperative or credit union league or federation that is authorized by an enactment of Canada or a jurisdiction of Canada to carry on business in Canada or a jurisdiction of Canada;
- (e) a pension fund that is regulated by either the Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions (Canada) or a pension commission or similar regulatory authority of a jurisdiction of Canada;
- (f) an investment fund;
- (g) a person or company, other than an individual, that is any of the following:
 - a person or company that is subject to a requirement to register under the securities legislation or commodities futures legislation of any jurisdiction of Canada;
 - (ii) a person or company that is exempt from the requirement to register under the securities legislation or commodities futures legislation of any jurisdiction of Canada, other than a person or company that is exempt from the requirement to register as a result of section 8.4 of National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations;
- (h) a person or company that is an affiliated entity of a person or company referred to in any of paragraphs (a) to (g);

(i) a person or company that is organized under the laws of a foreign jurisdiction that is analogous to an entity referred to in any of paragraphs (a) to (h).

"Global Legal Entity Identifier System" means the system for unique identification of parties to financial transactions developed by the Legal Entity Identifier System Regulatory Oversight Committee;

"investment fund" has the meaning ascribed to it in National Instrument 81-106 Investment Fund Continuous Disclosure;

"Legal Entity Identifier System Regulatory Oversight Committee" means the international working group established by the finance ministers and the central bank governors of the Group of Twenty nations and the Financial Stability Board, under the Charter of the Regulatory Oversight Committee for the Global Legal Entity Identifier System dated November 5, 2012;

"lifecycle event" means an event that results in a change to derivatives data previously reported to a designated trade repository in respect of a derivative;

"lifecycle event data" means changes to creation data resulting from a lifecycle event and data in respect of the data elements listed in Appendix A under the heading "Data Elements Related to Actions and Events";

"local counterparty" means a counterparty to a derivative if, at the time of a transaction, one or more of the following apply:

- (a) the counterparty is a person or company, other than an individual, to which one or more of the following apply:
 - (i) it is organized under the laws of Ontario;
 - (ii) its head office is in Ontario;
 - (iii) its principal place of business is in Ontario;
- (b) the counterparty is a derivatives dealer in Ontario;
- (c) the counterparty is an affiliated entity of a person or company to which paragraph (a) applies, and the person or company is liable for all or substantially all of the liabilities of the counterparty;

"notional amount threshold derivatives dealer" means a derivatives dealer to which subsection 44(1) or 44(2) of National Instrument 93-101 *Derivatives: Business Conduct* applies;

"participant" means a person or company that has entered into an agreement with a designated trade repository to access the services of the designated trade repository;

"position level data" means the lifecycle event data, valuation data and collateral and margin data, each reported on an aggregated basis;

"qualified reporting counterparty" means a reporting counterparty that is any of the following:

- (a) a derivatives dealer;
- (b) a recognized or exempt clearing agency;
- (c) an affiliated entity of a person or company referred to in paragraph (a) or (b);

"reporting counterparty" means the counterparty to a derivative as determined under section 25 that is required to report derivatives data under section 26;

"transaction" means entering into, assigning, selling or otherwise acquiring or disposing of a derivative or the novation of a derivative;

"user" means, in respect of a designated trade repository, a counterparty (or delegate of a counterparty) to a derivative reported to that designated trade repository pursuant to this Rule;

"UTI" means unique transaction identifier;

"valuation data" means data in respect of the data elements listed in Appendix A under the headings "Data Elements Related to Valuation" and "Data Elements Related to Actions and Events";

"validation procedure" means a written rule, policy or procedure reasonably designed to validate that the derivatives data reported under this Rule satisfies the derivatives data elements listed in Appendix A and the technical specifications set out in the CSA Derivatives Data Technical Manual.

- (2) In this Rule, each of the following terms has the same meaning as in National Instrument 52-107 *Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards:* "accounting principles"; "auditing standards"; "publicly accountable enterprise"; "U.S. AICPA GAAS"; "U.S. GAAP"; and "U.S. PCAOB GAAS".
- (3) In this Rule, "interim period" has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of National Instrument 51-102 *Continuous Disclosure Obligations.*
- (4) In this Rule, a person or company is an affiliated entity of another person or company if one of them controls the other or each of them is controlled by the same person or company.
- (5) In this Rule, a person or company (the first party) is considered to control another person or company (the second party) if any of the following apply:
 - (a) the first party beneficially owns or directly or indirectly exercises control or direction over securities of the second party carrying votes which, if exercised, would entitle the first party to elect a majority of the directors of the second party unless the first party holds the voting securities only to secure an obligation;

- (b) the second party is a partnership, other than a limited partnership, and the first party holds more than 50% of the interests of the partnership;
- (c) all of the following apply:
 - (i) the second party is a limited partnership;
 - (ii) the first party is a general partner of the limited partnership referred to in subparagraph (i);
 - (iii) the first party has the power to direct the management and policies of the second party by virtue of being a general partner of the second party;
- (d) all of the following apply:
 - (i) the second party is a trust;
 - (ii) the first party is a trustee of the trust referred to in subparagraph (i);
 - (iii) the first party has the power to direct the management and policies of the second party by virtue of being a trustee of the second party.
- (6) Despite subsections (4) and (5), an investment fund is not an affiliated entity of another person or company for the purposes of this Rule.

PART 2 TRADE REPOSITORY DESIGNATION AND ONGOING REQUIREMENTS

Trade repository initial filing of information and designation

- **2. (1)** An applicant for designation under section 21.2.2 of the Act must file a completed Form 91-507F1 *Application for Designation and Trade Repository Information Statement.*
- (2) In addition to the requirement set out in subsection (1), an applicant for designation under section 21.2.2 of the Act whose head office or principal place of business is located outside of Ontario must
 - (a) certify on Form 91-507F1 that it will provide the Commission with access to its books and records and will submit to onsite inspection and examination by the Commission,
 - (b) certify on Form 91-507F1 that it will provide the Commission with an opinion of legal counsel that
 - (i) the applicant has the power and authority to provide the Commission with access to its books and records, and

- (ii) the applicant has the power and authority to submit to onsite inspection and examination by the Commission.
- (3) In addition to the requirements set out in subsections (1) and (2), an applicant for designation under section 21.2.2 of the Act whose head office or principal place of business is located in a foreign jurisdiction must file a completed Form 91-507F2 Submission to Jurisdiction and Appointment of Agent for Service of Process.
- (4) Within 7 days of becoming aware of an inaccuracy in or making a change to the information provided in Form 91-507F1, an applicant must file an amendment to Form 91-507F1 in the manner set out in that Form.

Change in information

- **3. (1)** Subject to subsection (2), a designated trade repository must not implement a significant change to a matter set out in Form 91-507F1 unless it has filed an amendment to Form 91-507F1 in the manner set out in that Form at least 45 days before implementing the change.
- (2) A designated trade repository must file an amendment to the information provided in Exhibit I (Fees) of Form 91-507F1 in the manner set out in the Form at least 15 days before implementing a change to the information provided in the Exhibit.
- (3) For a change to a matter set out in Form 91-507F1 other than a change referred to in subsection (1) or (2), a designated trade repository must file an amendment to Form 91-507F1 in the manner set out in that Form at least annually.

Filing of initial audited financial statements

- **4. (1)** An applicant must file audited financial statements for its most recently completed financial year with the Commission as part of its application for designation under section 21.2.2 of the Act.
- (2) The financial statements referred to in subsection (1) must
 - (a) be prepared in accordance with one of the following
 - (i) Canadian GAAP applicable to a publicly accountable enterprise,
 - (ii) IFRS, or
 - (iii) U.S. GAAP, if the person or company is incorporated or organized under the laws of the United States of America,
 - (b) identify in the notes to the financial statements the accounting principles used to prepare the financial statements,
 - (c) disclose the presentation currency, and
 - (d) be audited in accordance with

- (i) Canadian GAAS,
- (ii) International Standards on Auditing, or
- (iii) U.S. AICPA GAAS or U.S. PCAOB GAAS if the person or company is incorporated or organized under the laws of the United States of America.
- (3) The financial statements referred to in subsection (1) must be accompanied by an auditor's report that
 - (a) expresses an unmodified opinion if the financial statements are audited in accordance with Canadian GAAS or International Standards on Auditing,
 - (b) expresses an unqualified opinion if the financial statements are audited in accordance with U.S. AICPA GAAS or U.S. PCAOB GAAS,
 - (c) identifies all financial periods presented for which the auditor's report applies,
 - (d) identifies the auditing standards used to conduct the audit,
 - (e) identifies the accounting principles used to prepare the financial statements,
 - (f) is prepared in accordance with the same auditing standards used to conduct the audit, and
 - (g) is prepared and signed by a person or company that is authorized to sign an auditor's report under the laws of a jurisdiction of Canada or a foreign jurisdiction, and that meets the professional standards of that jurisdiction.

Filing of annual audited and interim financial statements

- **5. (1)** A designated trade repository must file annual audited financial statements that comply with the requirements in subsections 4(2) and 4(3) with the Commission no later than the 90th day after the end of its financial year.
- (2) A designated trade repository must file interim financial statements with the Commission no later than the 45th day after the end of each interim period.
- (3) The interim financial statements referred to in subsection (2) must
 - (a) be prepared in accordance with one of the following
 - (i) Canadian GAAP applicable to a publicly accountable enterprise,
 - (ii) IFRS, or
 - (iii) U.S. GAAP, if the person or company is incorporated or organized under the laws of the United States of America, and

(b) identify in the notes to the financial statements the accounting principles used to prepare the financial statements.

Ceasing to carry on business

- **6. (1)** A designated trade repository that intends to cease carrying on business in Ontario as a trade repository must make an application and file a report on Form 91-507F3 Cessation of Operations Report for Trade Repository at least 180 days before the date on which it intends to cease carrying on that business.
- (2) A designated trade repository that involuntarily ceases to carry on business in Ontario as a trade repository must file a report on Form 91-507F3 as soon as practicable after it ceases to carry on that business.

Legal framework

- **7. (1)** A designated trade repository must establish, implement, maintain and enforce written rules, policies and procedures reasonably designed to ensure a well-founded, clear, transparent, and enforceable legal basis for each material aspect of its activities.
- (2) Without limiting the generality of subsection (1), a designated trade repository must establish, implement, maintain and enforce written rules, policies and procedures that are not contrary to the public interest and that are reasonably designed to ensure that
 - (a) the rules, policies and procedures and its contracts are consistent with the laws applicable to those rules, policies, procedures and contracts, and that any material risk arising from a conflict between the laws of Ontario and the laws of another jurisdiction of Canada or a foreign jurisdiction that apply to a contract with its participants is reasonably mitigated,
 - (b) the rights and obligations of a user, owner and regulator with respect to the use of the designated trade repository's information are clear and transparent,
 - (c) the contractual arrangements that it enters into and supporting documentation clearly state service levels, rights of access, protection of confidential information, intellectual property rights and operational reliability, and
 - (d) the status of records of contracts in its repository and whether those records of contracts are the legal contracts of record are clearly established.

Governance

- **8. (1)** A designated trade repository must establish, implement and maintain written governance arrangements that
 - (a) are well-defined, clear and transparent,
 - (b) establish a clear organizational structure with responsibilities and direct lines of accountability, including roles and responsibilities in relation to the identification, measurement, monitoring and management of risks,
 - (b.1) establish a clear risk management framework that includes the tolerance levels for the identified risks of the designated trade repository,
 - (b.2) establish processes for making decisions, including, for greater certainty, making decisions relating to crises and emergencies, and rules of accountability in respect of decisions relating to risk,
 - (c) provide for effective internal controls,
 - (d) promote the safety and efficiency of the designated trade repository and ensure that participants can efficiently access its derivatives data reporting services,
 - (e) ensure effective oversight of the designated trade repository,
 - (f) support the stability of the broader financial system and other relevant public interest considerations, and
 - (g) properly balance the interests of relevant stakeholders.
- (2) A designated trade repository must establish, implement, maintain and enforce written rules, policies and procedures reasonably designed to identify and manage existing and potential conflicts of interest.
- (3) A designated trade repository must publicly disclose on its website
 - (a) the governance arrangements established in accordance with subsection (1), and
 - (b) the rules, policies and procedures established in accordance with subsection (2).

Board of directors

- **9.** (1) A designated trade repository must have a board of directors.
- (2) The board of directors of a designated trade repository must include

- (a) individuals who have an appropriate level of skill and experience to effectively and efficiently oversee the management of its operations in accordance with all relevant laws, and
- (b) appropriate representation by individuals who are independent of the designated trade repository.
- (3) The board of directors of a designated trade repository must, in consultation with the chief compliance officer of the designated trade repository, resolve conflicts of interest identified by the chief compliance officer.
- (4) The board of directors of a designated trade repository must meet with the chief compliance officer of the designated trade repository on a regular basis.
- (5) A designated trade repository must establish, implement and maintain policies and procedures to review the overall performance of the board of directors and the performance of each board member on a regular basis.

Management

- **10. (1)** A designated trade repository must establish, implement, maintain and enforce written rules, policies and procedures that
 - (a) specify the roles and responsibilities of management, and
 - (b) ensure that management has the experience, competencies, integrity and mix of skills necessary to discharge its roles and responsibilities.
- (2) A designated trade repository must notify the Commission no later than the 5th business day after appointing or replacing its chief compliance officer, chief executive officer or chief risk officer.

Chief compliance officer

- **11. (1)** The board of directors of a designated trade repository must appoint a chief compliance officer with the appropriate experience, competencies, integrity and mix of skills necessary to serve in that capacity.
- (2) The chief compliance officer of a designated trade repository must report directly to the board of directors of the designated trade repository or, if so directed by the board of directors, to the chief executive officer of the designated trade repository.
- (3) The chief compliance officer of a designated trade repository must
 - (a) establish, implement, maintain and enforce written rules, policies and procedures to identify and resolve conflicts of interest,
 - (b) establish, implement, maintain and enforce written rules, policies and procedures to ensure that the designated trade repository complies with securities legislation,

- (c) monitor compliance with the rules, policies and procedures required under paragraphs (a) and (b) on an ongoing basis,
- (d) report to the board of directors of the designated trade repository as soon as practicable after becoming aware of a circumstance indicating that the designated trade repository, or an individual acting on its behalf, is not in compliance with the securities laws of a jurisdiction in which it operates and one or more of the following apply:
 - (i) the non-compliance creates a risk of harm to a user;
 - (ii) the non-compliance creates a risk of harm to the capital markets;
 - (iii) the non-compliance is part of a pattern of non-compliance;
 - (iv) the non-compliance may have an impact on the ability of the designated trade repository to carry on business as a trade repository in compliance with securities legislation,
- (e) report to the designated trade repository's board of directors as soon as practicable after becoming aware of a conflict of interest that creates a risk of harm to a user or to the capital markets, and
- (f) prepare and certify an annual report assessing compliance by the designated trade repository, and individuals acting on its behalf, with securities legislation and submit the report to the board of directors.
- (4) Concurrently with submitting a report under paragraph (3)(d), (3)(e) or (3)(f), the chief compliance officer must file a copy of the report with the Commission.

Fees

- **12.** Any fees and other material costs imposed by a designated trade repository on its participants must be
 - (a) fairly allocated among participants,
 - (b) at all times publicly disclosed on its website for each service it offers with respect to the collection and maintenance of derivatives data, and
 - (c) reviewed on a regular basis, at least once every 2 calendar years.

Access to designated trade repository services

- **13. (1)** A designated trade repository must establish, implement, maintain and enforce written rules, policies and procedures that establish objective, risk-based criteria for participation that permit fair and open access to the services it provides.
- (2) A designated trade repository must publicly disclose on its website the rules, policies and procedures referred to in subsection (1).

- (3) A designated trade repository must not do any of the following:
 - (a) unreasonably prohibit, condition or limit access by a person or company to the services offered by the designated trade repository;
 - (b) permit unreasonable discrimination among the participants of the designated trade repository;
 - (c) impose a burden on competition that is not reasonably necessary and appropriate;
 - (d) require the use or purchase of another service for a person or company to utilize the trade reporting service offered by the designated trade repository.

Receiving derivatives data

14. A designated trade repository must not refuse to receive derivatives data from a participant for all derivatives of an asset class set out in its designation order and in respect of all data elements listed in Appendix A.

Communication procedures and standards

- **15.** A designated trade repository must use or accommodate relevant internationally accepted communication procedures and standards in order to facilitate the efficient exchange of data between its systems and those of
 - (a) its participants,
 - (b) other trade repositories,
 - (c) exchanges, clearing agencies, alternative trading systems, and other marketplaces, and
 - (d) other service providers.

Due process

- **16. (1)** Before making a decision that directly and adversely affects a participant or an applicant that applies to become a participant, a designated trade repository must give the participant or applicant an opportunity to be heard.
- (2) A designated trade repository must keep records of, give reasons for, and provide for reviews of its decisions, including, for each applicant, the reasons for granting, denying or limiting access.

Rules, policies and procedures

17. (1) The rules, policies and procedures of a designated trade repository must

- (a) be clear and comprehensive and provide sufficient information to enable a participant to have an accurate understanding of its rights and obligations in accessing the services of the designated trade repository and the risks, fees, and other material costs they incur by using the services of the designated trade repository,
- (b) be reasonably designed to govern all aspects of the services offered by the designated trade repository with respect to the collection and maintenance of derivatives data and other information relating to a derivative, and
- (c) not be inconsistent with securities legislation.
- (2) A designated trade repository must monitor compliance with its rules, policies and procedures on an ongoing basis.
- (3) A designated trade repository must establish, implement, maintain and enforce written rules, policies and procedures for sanctioning non-compliance with its rules, policies and procedures.
- (4) A designated trade repository must publicly disclose on its website
 - (a) its rules, policies and procedures referred to in this section, and
 - (b) its procedures for adopting new rules, policies and procedures or amending existing rules, policies and procedures.
- (5) A designated trade repository must file its proposed new or amended rules, policies and procedures for approval in accordance with the terms and conditions of its designation order, unless the order explicitly exempts the designated trade repository from this requirement.

Records of data reported

- **18. (1)** A designated trade repository must design its recordkeeping procedures to ensure that it records derivatives data without error or omission and on a timely basis.
- (2) A designated trade repository must keep, in a safe location and in a durable form, records of derivatives data for 7 years after the date on which the derivative expires or terminates.
- (3) Throughout the period described in subsection (2), a designated trade repository must create and maintain at least one copy of each record of derivatives data required to be kept under subsection (2), in a safe location and in a durable form, separate from the location of the original record.

Comprehensive risk-management framework

19. A designated trade repository must establish, implement and maintain a written risk-management framework for comprehensively managing risks including business, legal, and operational risks.

General business risk

- **20. (1)** A designated trade repository must establish, implement and maintain appropriate systems, controls and procedures to identify, monitor, and manage its general business risk.
- (2) Without limiting the generality of subsection (1), a designated trade repository must hold sufficient insurance coverage and liquid net assets funded by equity to cover potential general business losses in order that it can continue operations and services as a going concern in order to achieve a recovery or an orderly wind down if those losses materialize.
- (3) For the purposes of subsection (2), a designated trade repository must hold, at a minimum, liquid net assets funded by equity equal to six months of current operating expenses.
- (4) A designated trade repository must identify scenarios that may potentially prevent it from being able to provide its critical operations and services as a going concern and assess the effectiveness of a full range of options for an orderly winddown.
- (5) A designated trade repository must establish, implement, maintain and enforce written rules, policies and procedures reasonably designed to facilitate its orderly wind-down based on the results of the assessment required by subsection (4).
- (6) A designated trade repository must establish, implement, maintain and enforce written rules, policies and procedures to ensure that it or a successor entity, insolvency administrator or other legal representative, will continue to comply with the requirements of subsection 6(2) and section 37 in the event of the bankruptcy or insolvency of the designated trade repository or the wind-down of the designated trade repository's operations.

System and other operational risks

- **21. (1)** A designated trade repository must establish, implement, maintain and enforce appropriate systems, controls and procedures to identify and minimize the impact of all plausible sources of operational risk, both internal and external, including risks to data integrity, data security, business continuity and capacity and performance management.
- (2) The systems, controls and procedures established pursuant to subsection (1) must be approved by the board of directors of the designated trade repository.

- (3) Without limiting the generality of subsection (1), a designated trade repository must
 - (a) develop and maintain
 - (i) an adequate system of internal controls over its systems, and
 - (ii) adequate information technology general controls, including without limitation, controls relating to information systems operations, information security and integrity, change management, problem management, network support and system software support,
 - (b) in accordance with prudent business practice, on a reasonably frequent basis and, in any event, at least annually
 - (i) make reasonable current and future capacity estimates, and
 - (ii) conduct capacity stress tests to determine the ability of those systems to process derivatives data in an accurate, timely and efficient manner, and
 - (c) promptly notify the Commission of a material systems failure, malfunction, delay or other disruptive incident, or a breach of data security, integrity or confidentiality, and provide as soon as practicable a written post-incident report that includes a root-cause analysis and any remedial action that the designated trade repository has taken or intends to take.
- (4) Without limiting the generality of subsection (1), a designated trade repository must establish, implement, maintain and enforce business continuity plans, including disaster recovery plans reasonably designed to
 - (a) achieve prompt recovery of its operations following a disruption,
 - (b) allow for the timely recovery of information, including derivatives data, in the event of a disruption, and
 - (c) provide for the exercise of authority in the event of an emergency.
- (5) A designated trade repository must test its business continuity plans, including disaster recovery plans, at least annually.
- (6) For each of its systems for collecting and maintaining reports of derivatives data, a designated trade repository must annually engage a qualified party to conduct an independent review and prepare a report in accordance with established audit standards to ensure that it is in compliance with paragraphs (3)(a) and (b) and subsections (4) and (5).
- (7) A designated trade repository must provide the report prepared in accordance with subsection (6) to

- (a) its board of directors or audit committee promptly upon the completion of the report, and
- (b) the Commission not later than the 30th day after providing the report to its board of directors or audit committee.
- (8) A designated trade repository must publicly disclose on its website all technology requirements regarding interfacing with or accessing the services provided by the designated trade repository,
 - (a) if operations have not begun, sufficiently in advance of operations to allow a reasonable period for testing and system modification by participants, and
 - (b) if operations have begun, sufficiently in advance of implementing a material change to technology requirements to allow a reasonable period for testing and system modification by participants.
- **(9)** A designated trade repository must make available testing facilities for interfacing with or accessing the services provided by the designated trade repository,
 - (a) if operations have not begun, sufficiently in advance of operations to allow a reasonable period for testing and system modification by participants, and
 - (b) if operations have begun, sufficiently in advance of implementing a material change to technology requirements to allow a reasonable period for testing and system modification by participants.
- (10) A designated trade repository must not begin operations in Ontario unless it has complied with paragraphs (8)(a) and (9)(a).
- (11) Paragraphs (8)(b) and (9)(b) do not apply to a designated trade repository if
 - (a) the change to its technology requirements must be made immediately to address a failure, malfunction or material delay of its systems or equipment,
 - (b) the designated trade repository immediately notifies the Commission of its intention to make the change to its technology requirements, and
 - (c) the designated trade repository publicly discloses on its website the changed technology requirements as soon as practicable.

Data security and confidentiality

22. (1) A designated trade repository must establish, implement, maintain and enforce written rules, policies and procedures reasonably designed to ensure the safety, privacy and confidentiality of the derivatives data.

- (2) A designated trade repository must not release derivatives data for commercial or business purposes unless
 - (a) the derivatives data has otherwise been disclosed pursuant to section 39, or
 - (b) the counterparties to the derivative have provided the designated trade repository with their express written consent to use or release the derivatives data.

Transactions executed anonymously on a derivatives trading facility

22.1 A designated trade repository must not disclose the identity or legal entity identifier of a counterparty to another counterparty in respect of a transaction involving a local counterparty that is executed anonymously on a derivatives trading facility and results in a derivative that is cleared through a recognized or exempt clearing agency.

Validation of data

- **22.2 (1)** A designated trade repository must establish, implement, maintain and enforce a validation procedure.
- (2) A designated trade repository must, as soon as technologically practicable after receiving derivatives data, notify a reporting counterparty, including, for greater certainty, an agent acting on its behalf, whether the derivatives data satisfies its validation procedure.
- (3) A designated trade repository must accept derivatives data that satisfies its validation procedure.
- (4) A designated trade repository must create and maintain records of all the derivatives data reported that failed to satisfy its validation procedure.
- (5) A designated trade repository must, for all derivatives required to be reported under this Rule, including, for greater certainty, derivatives that have expired or terminated, accept a correction from a participant to an error or omission in derivatives data that the participant reported if the corrected derivatives data satisfies its validation procedure.

Verification of data

- 23. (1) For the purposes of this section
 - "verification participant" means a participant that is, or is acting on behalf of, a reporting counterparty to a derivative and that is subject to verification requirements;
 - (b) "verification requirements" means the requirements set out under paragraphs 26.1(b) or 26.1(c).

(2) A designated trade repository must establish, implement, maintain and enforce written rules, policies and procedures under which a verification participant is allowed and enabled to carry out its verification requirements.

Outsourcing

- **24.** If a designated trade repository outsources a material service or system to a service provider, including to an associate or affiliate of the designated trade repository, the designated trade repository must
 - (a) establish, implement, maintain and enforce written rules, policies and procedures for the selection of a service provider to which a material service or system may be outsourced and for the evaluation and approval of such an outsourcing arrangement,
 - (b) identify any conflicts of interest between the designated trade repository and a service provider to which a material service or system is outsourced, and establish, implement, maintain and enforce written rules, policies and procedures to mitigate and manage those conflicts of interest,
 - (c) enter into a written contract with the service provider that is appropriate for the materiality and nature of the outsourced activity and that provides for adequate termination procedures,
 - (d) maintain access to the books and records of the service provider relating to the outsourced activity,
 - (e) ensure that the Commission has the same access to all data, information and systems maintained by the service provider on behalf of the designated trade repository that it would have absent the outsourcing arrangement,
 - (f) ensure that all persons conducting audits or independent reviews of the designated trade repository under this Rule have appropriate access to all data, information and systems maintained by the service provider on behalf of the designated trade repository that such persons would have absent the outsourcing arrangement,
 - (g) take appropriate measures to determine that a service provider to which a material service or system is outsourced establishes, maintains and periodically tests an appropriate business continuity plan, including a disaster recovery plan in accordance with the requirements under section 21,
 - (h) take appropriate measures to ensure that the service provider protects the safety, privacy and confidentiality of derivatives data and of users' confidential information in accordance with the requirements under section 22, and

(i) establish, implement, maintain and enforce written rules, policies and procedures to regularly review the performance of the service provider under the outsourcing arrangement.

PART 3 DATA REPORTING

Reporting counterparty

- **25. (1)** The reporting counterparty with respect to a derivative involving a local counterparty is
 - (a) if the derivative is cleared through a recognized or exempt clearing agency, the recognized or exempt clearing agency,
 - (b) subject to subsection (2), if the derivative is not cleared through a recognized or exempt clearing agency and is between two derivatives dealers both of which are parties to the ISDA Multilateral, the derivatives dealer determined to be the reporting counterparty under the ISDA methodology,
 - (c) if paragraphs (a) and (b) do not apply to the derivative and the derivative is between a derivatives dealer that is a financial entity and a derivatives dealer that is not a financial entity, the financial entity,
 - (d) if paragraphs (a) to (c) do not apply to the derivative and the derivative is between two derivatives dealers that are financial entities, each derivatives dealer,
 - (e) if paragraphs (a) to (d) do not apply to the derivative and the derivative is between a derivatives dealer and a counterparty that is not a derivatives dealer, the derivatives dealer,
 - (f) if paragraphs (a) to (e) do not apply to the derivative, the counterparty determined to be the reporting counterparty under the terms of a written agreement entered into before or at the time of the transaction, and
 - (g) in any other case, each local counterparty to the derivative.
- (2) Paragraph (1)(b) applies in respect of a derivative only if
 - (a) the ISDA methodology process is followed in determining the reporting counterparty in respect of that derivative, and
 - (b) each party to the derivative consents to the release to the Commission by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. of information relevant in determining the applicability of paragraphs (1)(b) and (2)(b) to it.
- (3) For the purposes of this section

- (a) "ISDA methodology" means the methodology described in the Canadian Transaction Reporting Party Requirements (issued by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. on April 4, 2014 and amended as of March 20, 2015);
- (b) "ISDA Multilateral" means the ISDA 2014 Multilateral Canadian Reporting Party Agreement (Deemed Dealer Version) that is administered by and delivered to the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc.
- (4) A local counterparty to a derivative to which paragraph 1(f) applies must
 - (a) keep a record of the written agreement referred to in that paragraph for 7 years after the date on which the derivative expires or terminates, and
 - (b) keep the record referred to in paragraph (a) in a safe location and in a durable form.
- (5) Despite section 40, a local counterparty that agrees under paragraph (1)(f) to be the reporting counterparty for a derivative to which section 40 applies must report derivatives data in accordance with this Rule.

Duty to report

- **26. (1)** A reporting counterparty in respect of a derivative involving a local counterparty must report, or cause to be reported, the data required to be reported under this Part to a designated trade repository.
- (2) A reporting counterparty in respect of a derivative is responsible for ensuring that all reporting obligations in respect of that derivative have been fulfilled.
- (3) A reporting counterparty may delegate its reporting obligations under this Rule, but remains responsible for ensuring the reporting of derivatives data required by this Rule.
- (4) Despite subsection (1), if no designated trade repository accepts the data required to be reported by this Part, the reporting counterparty must electronically report the data required to be reported by this Part to the Commission.
- (5) A reporting counterparty satisfies the reporting obligation in respect of a derivative required to be reported under subsection (1) if
 - (a) the derivative is required to be reported solely because a counterparty to the derivative is a local counterparty pursuant to paragraph (c) of the definition of "local counterparty":
 - (b) the derivative is reported to a designated trade repository under
 - (i) the securities legislation of a province or territory of Canada other than Ontario, or

- (ii) the laws of a foreign jurisdiction listed in Appendix B; and
- (c) the reporting counterparty instructs the designated trade repository referred to in paragraph (b) to provide the Commission with access to the data that is reported pursuant to paragraph (b) and otherwise uses its best efforts to provide the Commission with access to such data.
- (6) A reporting counterparty must ensure that all reported derivatives data relating to a derivative satisfies the validation procedure of the designated trade repository to which the derivative is reported.
- (7) A reporting counterparty must ensure that all reported derivatives data relating to a derivative is reported to the same designated trade repository or, if reported to the Commission under subsection (4), to the Commission.

(8) [Repealed]

- (9) If a local counterparty, other than a recognized or exempt clearing agency, to a derivative that is required to be reported under this Rule, and that is cleared through a recognized or exempt clearing agency, has specified a designated trade repository to which derivatives data in relation to the derivative is to be reported, the recognized or exempt clearing agency
 - (a) must report the derivatives data to the specified designated trade repository, and
 - (b) must not report derivatives data to another trade repository without the consent of the local counterparty.

Verification of data

26.1 A reporting counterparty must

- (a) ensure that reported derivatives data does not contain an error or omission,
- (b) verify, in the case of a reporting counterparty that is a notional amount threshold derivatives dealer, that the reported derivatives data does not contain an error or omission, at least once every calendar quarter, provided that there are at least two calendar months between verifications, and
- (c) verify, in the case of a reporting counterparty that is a recognized or exempt clearing agency or a derivatives dealer that is not a notional amount threshold derivatives dealer, that the reported derivatives data does not contain an error or omission, at least every 30 days.

Derivatives reported in error

26.2 A reporting counterparty that reports a derivative in error must report the error to the designated trade repository or, if the derivatives data was reported to the Commission under subsection 26(4), to the Commission, as soon as practicable after discovery of the error, and in no event later than the end of the business day following the day of discovery of the error.

Notification of errors and omissions with respect to derivatives data

- **26.3(1)** A local counterparty, other than the reporting counterparty, must notify the reporting counterparty of an error or omission with respect to derivatives data relating to a derivative to which it is a counterparty as soon as practicable after discovery of the error or omission, and in no event later than the end of the business day following the day of discovery of the error or omission.
- (2) A reporting counterparty must notify the Commission of a significant error or omission with respect to derivatives data as soon as practicable after discovery of the error or omission.

Transferring a derivative to a different designated trade repository

- **26.4(1)** A reporting counterparty must not change the designated trade repository to which derivatives data relating to a derivative is reported, unless the reporting counterparty complies with subsections (2) and (3).
- (2) At least 5 business days before a change referred to in subsection (1) is made by a reporting counterparty, the reporting counterparty must provide notice of the change to the following:
 - (a) the other counterparty to the derivative,
 - (b) the designated trade repository to which the derivatives data is reported before the change, and
 - (c) the designated trade repository to which the derivatives data is reported after the change.
- (3) The reporting counterparty must include in the notice referred to in subsection (2) the UTI of the derivative and the date on which the reporting counterparty will begin reporting the derivatives data to the designated trade repository referred to in paragraph (2)(c).
- (4) After providing the notice referred to in subsection (2), the reporting counterparty must report the change of designated trade repository as if it were a lifecycle event under section 32 to the designated trade repository referred to in paragraph (2)(b) and the designated trade repository referred to in paragraph (2)(c) on

the same day, and must use the same UTI to identify the derivative in the report to each designated trade repository.

(5) After changing the designated trade repository, the reporting counterparty must report all derivatives data relating to the derivative to the designated trade repository referred to in paragraph (2)(c) unless the reporting counterparty subsequently changes the designated trade repository under this section.

Identifiers, general

- **27.** A reporting counterparty must include the following in every report required by this Part:
 - (a) the legal entity identifier of each counterparty to the derivative as set out in section 28;
 - (b) the UTI for the derivative as set out in section 29;
 - (c) the unique product identifier for the derivative as set out in section 30.

Legal entity identifiers

- **28. (1)** In all recordkeeping and reporting that is required under this Rule, a designated trade repository and a reporting counterparty must identify each counterparty to a derivative by means of a single legal entity identifier.
- (2) Each of the following rules apply to legal entity identifiers
 - (a) a legal entity identifier must be a unique identification code assigned to a counterparty in accordance with the standards set by the Global Legal Entity Identifier System, and
 - (b) a local counterparty to a derivative required to be reported under this Rule must comply with all applicable requirements imposed by the Global Legal Entity Identifier System.

(3) [Repealed]

(4) Despite subsection (1), if a counterparty to a derivative is an individual or is not eligible to receive a legal entity identifier as determined by the Global Legal Entity Identifier System, the reporting counterparty and the designated trade repository must identify such a counterparty with a single unique alternate identifier.

(5) [Repealed]

Maintenance and renewal of legal entity identifiers

28.1 Each local counterparty to a derivative required to be reported under this Rule that is eligible to receive a legal entity identifier as determined by the Global Legal Entity Identifier System, other than an individual, must obtain, maintain and renew a legal

entity identifier assigned to the counterparty in accordance with the standards set by the Global Legal Entity Identifier System.

Unique transaction identifiers

- **29. (1)** In all recordkeeping and reporting that is required under this Rule, a designated trade repository and a reporting counterparty must identify each derivative, and each position under section 33.1, by means of a single UTI.
- (2) For each derivative that is required to be reported under this Rule, the following person or company must assign a single UTI to the derivative:
 - (a) if the derivative is also required to be reported under the securities legislation of a jurisdiction of Canada other than Ontario, or under the laws of a foreign jurisdiction under which a derivative must be reported before being reported under this Rule, the person or company required to assign the UTI under the securities legislation of that jurisdiction, or under the laws of that foreign jurisdiction;
 - (b) if paragraph (a) does not apply to the derivative and the derivative is cleared through a recognized or exempt clearing agency, the recognized or exempt clearing agency;
 - (c) if paragraphs (a) and (b) do not apply to the derivative and the transaction relating to the derivative is executed on a derivatives trading facility that has assigned a UTI to the derivative, the derivatives trading facility;
 - (d) if paragraphs (a) to (c) do not apply to the derivative, the reporting counterparty or, if there are two reporting counterparties, the reporting counterparty with the first legal entity identifier determined by sorting the legal entity identifiers alphanumerically with the characters of the legal entity identifiers reversed.
- (3) Despite paragraph 2(d), if paragraphs 2(a) to (c) do not apply to the derivative and the counterparties to the derivative have agreed in writing that one of them will be the person or company responsible for assigning the UTI to the derivative, the counterparty that is responsible for the assignment under that agreement must assign the UTI.
- (4) Despite subsection (2), a person or company that is required to assign a UTI under subsection (2) may request that a designated trade repository assign the UTI if the person or company is either of the following:
 - (a) a notional amount threshold derivatives dealer;
 - (b) not a recognized or exempt clearing agency, derivatives trading facility or derivatives dealer.

- (5) If a person or company makes a request under subsection (4), the designated trade repository must assign a UTI as soon as technologically practicable following receipt of the request.
- (6) The person or company referred to in subsection (2) must assign a UTI as soon as practicable after execution of the transaction relating to the derivative and in no event later than the time that the derivative is required to be reported to a designated trade repository under this Rule.
- (7) If a derivatives trading facility is required to assign a UTI under subsection (2), the derivatives trading facility must provide the UTI as soon as technologically practicable to the following:
 - (a) each counterparty to the derivative;
 - (b) if the derivative is submitted for clearing, the recognized or exempt clearing agency to which the derivative is submitted for clearing.
- (8) Subject to subsection (4), if one of the counterparties to an uncleared derivative is required to assign a UTI under subsections (2) or (3), the counterparty must provide the UTI as soon as practicable to the following:
 - (a) the other counterparty to the derivative;
 - (b) if the derivative is submitted for clearing, to the recognized or exempt clearing agency to which the derivative is submitted for clearing.
- (9) If a designated trade repository assigns a UTI under subsection (4), it must provide the UTI as soon as technologically practicable to the following:
 - (a) each counterparty to the derivative;
 - (b) if the derivative is submitted for clearing, to the recognized or exempt clearing agency to which the derivative is submitted for clearing.

Unique product identifiers

- **30. (1)** For the purposes of this section, a unique product identifier means a code that uniquely identifies a type of derivative and is assigned by the Derivatives Service Bureau.
- (2) In all recordkeeping and reporting that is required under this Rule, a designated trade repository and a reporting counterparty must identify each type of derivative by means of a single unique product identifier.
- (3) [Repealed]
- (4) [Repealed]

Creation data

- **31. (1)** Upon execution of a transaction relating to a derivative that is required to be reported under this Rule, a reporting counterparty must report the creation data relating to that derivative to a designated trade repository.
- (2) A qualified reporting counterparty in respect of a derivative must report creation data in real time.
- (3) Despite subsection (2), if it is not technologically practicable to report creation data in real time, a qualified reporting counterparty must report creation data as soon as technologically practicable and in no event later than the end of the business day following the day on which the data would otherwise be required to be reported.

(4) [Repealed]

(5) A reporting counterparty, that is not a qualified reporting counterparty, in respect of a derivative must report creation data no later than the end of the second business day following the execution date of the transaction.

Lifecycle event data

- **32. (1)** For a derivative that is required to be reported under this Rule, a qualified reporting counterparty must report all lifecycle event data to a designated trade repository by the end of the business day on which the lifecycle event occurs.
- (2) Despite subsection (1), if it is not technologically practicable to report lifecycle event data by the end of the business day on which the lifecycle event occurs, a qualified reporting counterparty must report all lifecycle event data to a designated trade repository no later than the end of the business day following the day on which the lifecycle event occurs.
- (3) A reporting counterparty, that is not a qualified reporting counterparty, in respect of a derivative must report all lifecycle event data to a designed trade repository no later than the end of the second business day following the day on which the lifecycle event occurs.
- (4) Despite subsections (1) to (3), the recognized or exempt clearing agency through which a derivative is cleared must report the termination of the original derivative to the designated trade repository to which the derivatives data in respect of that original derivative was reported by the end of the business day following the day on which the original derivative is terminated.

Valuation data and collateral and margin data

33. (1) With respect to a derivative that is required to be reported under this Rule, a reporting counterparty that is a derivatives dealer or a recognized or exempt clearing agency must report to a designated trade repository each business day

- (a) valuation data, and
- (b) collateral and margin data.
- (2) If position level data in respect of derivatives has been reported under section 33.1, the reporting counterparty must calculate and report on the net amount of all purchases and sales reported as position level data for the derivatives.

Position level data

- **33.1(1)** For the purpose of section 32, a reporting counterparty may report lifecycle event data as position level data if each derivative, for which the lifecycle event data is aggregated,
 - (a) is in a class of derivatives in which each derivative is fungible with all other derivatives in the class, and
 - (b) has no fixed expiration date or is a commodity derivative.
- (2) For the purpose of subsection 33(1), a reporting counterparty that is a derivatives dealer or a recognized or exempt clearing agency may report valuation data and collateral and margin data as position level data if each derivative, for which the valuation data and collateral and margin data is aggregated,
 - (a) is in a class of derivatives in which each derivative is fungible with all other derivatives in the class, and
 - (b) has no fixed expiration date or is a commodity derivative.

Pre-existing derivatives

- 34. (1) [Lapsed]
- (1.1) [Lapsed]
- (2) [Lapsed]
- (3) [Lapsed]

Timing requirements for reporting data to another designated trade repository

35. Despite subsection 26(7) and the data reporting timing requirements in sections 31, 32, 33 and 34, where a designated trade repository ceases operations or stops accepting derivatives data for a certain asset class of derivatives, the reporting counterparty may fulfill its reporting obligations under this Rule by reporting the derivatives data to another designated trade repository, or the Commission if there is not an available designated trade repository, within a reasonable period of time.

Records of data reported

- **36. (1)** A reporting counterparty must keep records relating to a derivative that is required to be reported under this Rule, including transaction records, for 7 years after the date on which the derivative expires or terminates.
- (2) A reporting counterparty must keep records referred to in subsection (1) in a safe location and in a durable form.

Derivatives trading facility

- **36.1(1)** In this section, "anonymous derivative" means a derivative for which the transaction is executed anonymously on a derivatives trading facility and that, at the time the transaction is executed, is intended to be cleared.
- (2) Section 25 does not apply with respect to an anonymous derivative.
- (3) Despite subsection (2), with respect to an anonymous derivative:
 - (a) a reference to "reporting counterparty" in the following provisions must be read as a reference to "derivatives trading facility": subsections 22.2(2), 26(1), 26(2), 26(3), 26(4), 26(6) and 26(7), paragraph 26.1(a), sections 26.2, 26.3, 26.4 and 27, subsections 28(1), 28(4), 29(1), 30(2) and 31(1), sections 35 and 36, subsection 37(3), and sections 41 and 41.2;
 - (b) a reference to "qualified reporting counterparty" in subsections 31(2) and 31(3) must be read as a reference to "derivatives trading facility".
- **(4)** Despite subsection (2), with respect to an anonymous derivative, a derivatives trading facility
 - (a) may report the legal entity identifier of an agent of a counterparty in respect of Data Element Number 1 "Counterparty 1 (reporting counterparty)" and Data Element Number 2 "Counterparty 2 (non-reporting counterparty)" identified in Appendix A if a transaction relating to the derivative is executed before the derivative is allocated among the counterparties on whose behalf the agent is acting;
 - (b) is not required to report the following data elements identified in Appendix A:
 - (i) Data Element Number 20 "Inter-affiliate indicator";
 - (ii) Data Element Number 24 "Master agreement type";
 - (iii) Data Element Number 25 "Master agreement version";
 - (iv) Data Element Number 77 "Clearing exceptions and exemptionsCounterparty 1";

- (v) Data Element Number 78 "Clearing exceptions and exemptionsCounterparty 2";
- (vi) Data Element Number 96 "Level";
- (vii) Data Element Number 121 "Crypto asset underlying indicator".
- (5) Despite subsection (2), with respect to an anonymous derivative, if a derivatives trading facility makes diligent efforts on a reasonably frequent basis to determine whether a participant of the derivatives trading facility, or its customer, is a local counterparty under paragraph (c) of the definition of "local counterparty" in any jurisdiction of Canada, but the derivatives trading facility has not yet made that determination, the participant, or its customer, is not a local counterparty under that paragraph for the purpose of reporting by the derivatives trading facility under this Rule until the earlier of
 - (a) the date the derivatives trading facility determines that the participant, or its customer, is a local counterparty under that paragraph, and
 - (b) July 31, 2029.

PART 4 DATA DISSEMINATION AND ACCESS TO DATA

Data available to regulators

- **37. (1)** A designated trade repository must, at no cost
 - (a) provide to the Commission direct, continuous and timely electronic access to such data in the designated trade repository's possession as is required by the Commission in order to carry out the Commission's mandate.
 - (b) accept and promptly fulfil any data requests from the Commission in order to carry out the Commission's mandate,
 - (c) create and make available to the Commission aggregate data derived from data in the designated trade repository's possession as required by the Commission in order to carry out the Commission's mandate, and
 - (d) disclose to the Commission the manner in which the derivatives data provided under paragraph (c) has been aggregated.
- (2) A designated trade repository must conform to internationally accepted regulatory access standards applicable to trade repositories.
- (3) A reporting counterparty must use its best efforts to provide the Commission with access to all derivatives data that it is required to report pursuant to this Rule,

including instructing a trade repository to provide the Commission with access to such data.

Data available to participants

- **38. (1)** Subject to section 22.1, a designated trade repository must provide a participant that is, or is acting on behalf of, a counterparty to a derivative with timely access to all derivatives data relevant to the derivative that is submitted to the designated trade repository.
- (2) A designated trade repository must have appropriate authorization procedures in place to enable access under subsection (1) by a participant that is a non-reporting counterparty or acting on behalf of a non-reporting counterparty.
- (3) Subject to section 22.1, each counterparty to a derivative is deemed to have consented to the release of all derivatives data required to be reported or disclosed under this Rule.
- (4) Subsection (3) applies despite any agreement to the contrary between the counterparties to a derivative.

Data available to public

- **39. (1)** A designated trade repository must, on a periodic basis, create and make available to the public, at no cost, aggregate data on open positions, volume and number, relating to the derivatives reported to it pursuant to this Rule.
- (2) The periodic aggregate data made available to the public pursuant to subsection (1) must be complemented at a minimum by breakdowns, where applicable, by currency of denomination, asset class, contract type, expiration and whether the derivative is cleared.
- (3) For each derivative reported pursuant to this Rule, a designated trade repository must make transaction level reports available to the public at no cost in accordance with the requirements in Appendix C, for at least one year after each report is first made available.
- (4) In making transaction level reports available for the purpose of subsection (3), a designated trade repository must not disclose the identity of either counterparty to the derivative.
- (5) A designated trade repository must make the data required to be made available to the public under this section available in a usable form through a publicly accessible website or other publicly accessible technology or medium.
- (6) Despite subsections (1) to (5), a designated trade repository must not make public derivatives data relating to a derivative between affiliated entities, unless otherwise required by law.

PART 5 EXCLUSIONS

Commodity derivatives

- **40. (1)** Despite Part 3 and subject to subsection 25(5), and subsection (2) of this section, a local counterparty is not required to report derivatives data relating to a commodity derivative, if
 - (a) the local counterparty is not a qualified reporting counterparty, and
 - (b) the aggregate month-end gross notional amount under all outstanding commodity derivatives of the local counterparty, and of each affiliated entity of the local counterparty that is a local counterparty in a jurisdiction of Canada, other than under paragraph (b) of the definition of "local counterparty", excluding derivatives with an affiliated entity, did not, in any calendar month in the preceding 12 calendar months, exceed \$250 000 000.
- (2) If a local counterparty ceases to satisfy a criterion under paragraph (1) (a) or (b), the local counterparty must, 180 days after the date that the criterion ceased to be satisfied, begin to report derivatives data unless, during that 180-day period, the local counterparty again satisfies the criterion.

Derivatives between a government and its consolidated entity

- **41.** Despite Part 3, a reporting counterparty is not required to report derivatives data relating to a derivative between
 - (a) His Majesty in right of Ontario or the Ontario Financing Authority when acting as agent for His Majesty in right of Ontario, and
 - (b) an Ontario crown corporation or crown agency that forms part of a consolidated entity with His Majesty in right of Ontario for accounting purposes.

Derivatives between affiliated entities

- **41.1** Despite Part 3, a reporting counterparty is not required to report derivatives data relating to a derivative if, at the time the transaction is executed,
 - (a) the counterparties to the derivative are affiliated entities; and
 - (b) neither counterparty is a qualified reporting counterparty.

Derivatives between a non-resident derivatives dealer and a non-local counterparty

- **41.2 (1)** Despite Part 3, a reporting counterparty is not required to report derivatives data relating to a derivative if the derivative is required to be reported solely because one or both counterparties is a local counterparty under paragraph (b) of the definition of "local counterparty".
- (2) Subsection (1) does not apply if the derivative involves a counterparty that is an individual who is a resident of Ontario.

PART 6 EXEMPTIONS

Exemptions

42. A Director may grant an exemption to this Rule, in whole or in part, subject to such conditions or restrictions as may be imposed in the exemption.

PART 7 EFFECTIVE DATE

Effective date

- 43. (1) [Lapsed]
- (2) [Lapsed]
- (3) [Lapsed]
- (4) [Lapsed]
- (5) [Lapsed]
- (6) [Lapsed]

APPENDIX A TO OSC RULE 91-507 *DERIVATIVES: TRADE REPORTING*MINIMUM DATA ELEMENTS REQUIRED TO BE REPORTED TO A DESIGNATED TRADE REPOSITORY

Under Part 3 of this Rule, the reporting counterparty is required to provide a response for each data element unless the data element is not applicable to the derivative.

Appendix A contains each data element, its description and whether the data element must be made available to the public under each of Part 4 and Appendix C to the Rule.

For the purpose of this Appendix A, "derivatives data reporting rules of any jurisdiction of Canada" means Manitoba Securities Commission Rule 91-507 *Derivatives: Trade Reporting*, Ontario Securities Commission Rule 91-507 *Derivatives: Trade Reporting*, Regulation 91-507 respecting Trade Repositories and Derivatives Data Reporting (Québec) or Multilateral Instrument 96-101 *Derivatives: Trade Reporting*.

Data Elements Related to Counterparties

Data Element Number	Data Element Name	Data Element Description	Made Available to the Public
1	Counterparty 1 (reporting counterparty)	Identifier of the reporting counterparty.	N
2	Counterparty 2 (non- reporting counterparty)	Identifier of the non-reporting counterparty.	N
3	Counterparty 2 identifier source	Type of Counterparty 2 identifier.	N

4	Buyer identifier	Identifier of the counterparty that is the buyer.	N
5	Seller identifier	Identifier of the counterparty that is the seller.	N
6	Payer identifier	Identifier of the counterparty of the payer leg.	N
7	Receiver identifier	Identifier of the counterparty of the receiver leg.	N
8	Broker identifier	Identifier of a broker that acts as an intermediary for Counterparty 1 without becoming a counterparty.	N
9	Country and Province or Territory of Individual (non- reporting counterparty)	If an individual is a non-reporting counterparty, the individual's country of residence and, if the individual's residence is in Canada, the province or territory.	N
10	Jurisdiction of Counterparty 1	 Each jurisdiction in which Counterparty 1 is: a local counterparty under paragraph (a) or (c) of the definition of local counterparty in the derivatives data reporting rules of any jurisdiction of Canada, a local counterparty under paragraph (b) of the definition of local counterparty in the derivatives data reporting rules of any jurisdiction of Canada, if the non-reporting counterparty is an individual who is a resident of the jurisdiction, and/or a local counterparty under paragraph (b) of the definition of local counterparty in Regulation 91-507 respecting Trade Repositories and Derivatives Data Reporting (Québec) and is a qualified person under section 82 of the Derivatives Act (Québec). 	N

		Each jurisdiction in which Counterparty 2 is:	N
11	Jurisdiction of Counterparty 2	 a local counterparty under paragraph (a) or (c) of the definition of local counterparty in the derivatives data reporting rules of any jurisdiction of Canada, and/or a local counterparty under paragraph (b) of the definition of local counterparty in Regulation 91-507 respecting Trade Repositories and Derivatives Data 	
		Reporting (Québec) and is a qualified person under section 82 of the Derivatives Act (Québec).	

Data Elements Related to Derivatives

Data Element Number	Data Element Name	Data Element Description	Made Available to the Public
12	Effective date	Unadjusted date at which obligations under the derivative come into effect, as provided in the confirmation.	Y
13	Expiration date	Unadjusted date at which obligations under the derivative cease to be effective, as provided in the confirmation.	Y
14	Execution timestamp	Date and time of execution of a transaction.	Y
15	Reporting timestamp	Date and time of submission of the report to the trade repository.	N
16	Unique transaction identifier (UTI)	Unique identifier that identifies a derivative or position throughout its lifecycle.	N

17	Prior UTI (for one-to- one and one-to-many relations between transactions)	UTI assigned to a derivative before the occurrence of a lifecycle event that resulted in the current derivative.	N
18	Subsequent position UTI	UTI of the position in which a derivative is included.	N
19	Prior USI (for one-to- one and one-to-many relations between transactions)	Unique swap identifier (USI) assigned to a derivative before the occurrence of a lifecycle event that resulted in the current derivative.	N
20	Inter-affiliate indicator	Indicator of whether the derivative is between two affiliated entities.	N
21	Submitter identifier	Identifier of the entity submitting derivatives data to the trade repository.	N
22	Platform identifier	Identifier of the trading facility on which the transaction was executed.	Υ
23	Platform anonymous execution indicator	Indicator of whether the transaction was executed anonymously on a trading facility.	N
24	Master agreement type	Type of master agreement.	N
25	Master agreement version	Year of the master agreement version.	N

Data Elements Related to Notional Amounts and Quantities

Data Element Number	Data Element Name	Data Element Description	Made Available to the Public
26	Notional amount	Notional amount for each leg of a derivative: • if the derivative is negotiated in a monetary amount, the amount specified in the derivative. • if the derivative is negotiated in a non-monetary amount, convert to a monetary amount.	Y
		See Appendix 3.1 of the CSA Derivatives Data Technical Manual for converting a notional amount negotiated in a non-monetary amount. This text box does not form part of this Rule and has no official status.	
27	Notional currency	For each leg of a derivative, the currency of the notional amount.	Υ
28	Call amount	Monetary amount that a person or company has the right to buy under an option.	N
29	Call currency	Currency of the call amount of an option.	N
30	Put amount	Monetary amount that a person or company has the right to sell under an option.	N
31	Put currency	Currency of the put amount of an option.	N
32	Notional quantity	For each leg of a derivative negotiated in a non-monetary amount, the fixed notional quantity for each schedule period.	N
33	Quantity frequency	Period for which the quantity is quoted.	N

34	Quantity frequency multiplier	Number of periods of the quantity frequency.	N
35	Quantity unit of measure	For each leg of a derivative, the unit of measure of the total notional quantity and notional quantity.	N
36	Total notional quantity	For each leg of a derivative, the aggregate notional quantity of the underlying interest for the term of the derivative.	N
37	Notional quantity schedule - Unadjusted date on which the associated notional quantity becomes effective	For each notional quantity set out in a schedule, the date (unadjusted for business day convention) on which the notional quantity becomes effective.	N
38	Notional quantity schedule - Unadjusted end date of the notional quantity	For each notional quantity set out in a schedule, the end date (unadjusted for business day convention) of the notional quantity.	N
39	Notional quantity schedule -Notional quantity in effect on associated effective date	Each notional quantity, as set out in a schedule, in effect from the date referred to in Data Element Number 37 to the date referred to in Data Element Number 38.	N

40	Notional amount schedule - notional amount in effect on associated effective date	Each notional amount, as set out in a schedule, in effect from the date referred to in Data Element Number 41 to the date referred to in Data Element Number 42.	N
41	Notional amount schedule - unadjusted effective date of the notional amount	For each notional amount set out in a schedule, the date (unadjusted for business day convention) on which the notional amount becomes effective.	N
42	Notional amount schedule - unadjusted end date of the notional amount	For each notional amount set out in a schedule, the end date (unadjusted for business day convention) of the notional amount.	N

Data Elements Related to Prices

Data Element Number	Data Element Name	Data Element Description	Made Available to the Public
43	Exchange rate	Exchange rate between 2 different currencies specified in the derivative.	N
44	Exchange rate basis	Currency pair and order in which the exchange rate is denominated.	N
45	Fixed rate	For each leg of a derivative with periodic payments, the annual rate of the fixed leg.	Y

46	Price	Price specified in the derivative.	Y
47	Price currency	Currency in which the price is denominated.	Υ
48	Price notation	Manner in which the price is expressed.	Y
49	Price unit of measure	Unit of measure in which the price is expressed.	N
50	Price schedule - unadjusted effective date of the price	For each price set out in a schedule, the date (unadjusted for business day convention) on which the price becomes effective.	N
51	Price schedule - unadjusted end date of the price	For each price set out in a schedule, the end date (unadjusted for business day convention) of the price.	N
52	Price schedule - price	Each price, as set out in a schedule, in effect from the date referred to in Data Element Number 50 to the date referred to in Data Element Number 51.	N
53	Spread	For each leg of a derivative, the specified spread on the reference price.	Υ
54	Spread currency	For each leg of a derivative, the currency in which a spread is denominated.	Y
55	Spread notation	For each leg of a derivative, the manner in which a spread is expressed.	Y
56	Strike price	For a derivative that is an option, the price at which the owner of the option can buy or sell the underlying interest of the option.	Υ

	Strike price	Currency, or the currency pair and order, in which the strike price is denominated.	N
57	currency/currency pair		
58	Strike price notation	Manner in which the strike price is expressed.	Y
59	Unadjusted effective date of the price	Effective date (unadjusted for business day convention) of the price.	N
60	Unadjusted end date of the price	End date (unadjusted for business day convention) of the price.	N
61	Price in effect between the unadjusted effective and end dates	Price in effect from the date referred to in Data Element Number 59 to the date referred to in Data Element Number 60.	N
62	Effective date of the strike price	Effective date (unadjusted for business day convention) of the strike price.	N
63	End date of the strike price	End date (unadjusted for business day convention) of the strike price.	N
64	Strike price in effect on associated effective date	Strike price in effect from the date referred to in Data Element Number 62 to the date referred to in Data Element Number 63.	N
65	Strike price schedule – Unadjusted effective date of the strike price	For each strike price set out in a schedule, the date (unadjusted for business day convention) on which the strike price becomes effective.	N
66	Strike price schedule – Unadjusted end date of the strike price	For each strike price set out in a schedule, the end date (unadjusted for business day convention) of the strike price.	N

67	Strike price schedule - strike price	Each strike price, as set out in a schedule, in effect from the date referred to in Data Element Number 65 to the date referred to in Data Element Number 66.	N
68	Non-standardized term indicator	Indicator of whether a derivative has one or more additional provisions that materially affect the price of the derivative and that have not been disclosed to the public.	Y
	Day count convention	For each leg of a derivative, the day count convention used to determine how interest payments are calculated.	Y
69			
70	Floating rate reset frequency period	For each floating leg of a derivative, the period of the frequency of resets.	Υ
71	Floating rate reset frequency period multiplier	For each floating leg of a derivative, the number by which the floating rate reset frequency period is multiplied to determine the frequency of periodic payment dates in respect of a reset.	Y

Data Elements Related to Clearing

Data Element Number	Data Element Name	Data Element Description	Made Available to the Public
72	Cleared	Indicator of whether a derivative has been cleared, or is intended to be cleared, by a clearing agency.	Y
73	Central counterparty identifier	Identifier of the clearing agency that cleared the derivative.	N

74	Clearing account origin	Indicator of whether the clearing member acts as principal or agent.	N
75	Clearing member identifier	Identifier of the clearing member through which a derivative is cleared by a clearing agency.	N
76	Clearing receipt timestamp	Date and time, expressed using Coordinated Universal Time, that the original derivative was recorded as being received by the clearing agency for clearing.	N
	Clearing exceptions and exemptions -	Type of exemption from or exception to a mandatory clearing requirement applicable to Counterparty 1.	N
77	Counterparty 1		
70	Clearing exceptions and exemptions –	Type of exemption from or exception to a mandatory clearing requirement applicable to Counterparty 2.	N
78	Counterparty 2		

Data Elements Related to Collateral and Margin

Data Element Number	Data Element Name	Data Element Description	Made Available to the Public
79	Collateralisation category	Indicator of whether there is an agreement in respect of collateral between the counterparties and the nature of the collateralisation.	N
80	Portfolio containing non-reportable component indicator	If collateral is reported on a portfolio basis, indicator of whether the portfolio includes derivatives exempted or excepted from reporting.	N

81	Initial margin posted by the reporting counterparty (pre- haircut)	Monetary value of the initial margin posted by the reporting counterparty before a haircut is applied.	N
82	Initial margin posted by the reporting counterparty (post- haircut)	Monetary value of the initial margin posted by the reporting counterparty after a haircut is applied.	N
83	Currency of initial margin posted	Currency in which the initial margin posted is denominated.	N
84	Initial margin collected by the reporting counterparty (pre-haircut)	Monetary value of the initial margin collected by the reporting counterparty before a haircut is applied.	N
85	Initial margin collected by the reporting counterparty (post- haircut)	Monetary value of the initial margin collected by the reporting counterparty after a haircut is applied.	N
86	Currency of initial margin collected	Currency in which the initial margin collected is denominated.	N
87	Variation margin posted by the reporting counterparty (prehaircut)	Monetary value of the variation margin posted by the reporting counterparty before a haircut is applied.	N

88	Variation margin posted by the reporting counterparty (posthaircut)	Monetary value of the variation margin posted by the reporting counterparty after a haircut is applied.	N
89	Currency of variation margin posted	Currency in which the variation margin posted is denominated.	N
90	Variation margin collected by the reporting counterparty (pre-haircut)	Monetary value of the variation margin collected by the reporting counterparty before a haircut is applied.	N
91	Variation margin collected by the reporting counterparty (post-haircut)	Monetary value of the variation margin collected by the reporting counterparty after a haircut is applied.	N
92	Currency of variation margin collected	Currency in which the variation margin collected is denominated.	N
93	Variation margin collateral portfolio code	If collateral is reported on a portfolio basis, a unique code assigned by the reporting counterparty that identifies the variation margin related to the open transactions that are included in the portfolio.	N
94	Initial margin collateral portfolio code	If collateral is reported on a portfolio basis, a unique code assigned by the reporting counterparty that identifies the initial margin related to the open transactions that are included in the portfolio.	N

Data Elements Related to Actions and Events

Data Element Number	Data Element Name	Data Element Description	Made Available to the Public
95	Event timestamp	Date and time of occurrence of an event relating to a derivative.	Y
96	Level	Indicator of whether the report is in respect of a derivative or a position.	N
97	Event identifier	Unique identifier that links derivatives relating to an event.	N
98	Action type	Indicator of the type of action or reporting relating to the derivative or position.	Y
99	Event type	Indicator of the type of lifecycle event or reason for the action referred to in Data Element Number 98.	Y
100	Amendment indicator	Indicator of whether an amendment to the derivative relates to an event.	Y

Data Elements Related to Valuation

Data Element Number	Data Element Name	Data Element Description	Made Available to the Public
101	Valuation amount	Value of the derivative.	N
102	Valuation currency	Currency in which the valuation amount is denominated.	N

103	Valuation method	Source and method used to value the derivative.	N
104	Valuation timestamp	Date and time that the value of the derivative referred to in Data Element Number 101 was determined.	N
105	Next floating reference reset date	Next date on which the floating reference will reset.	N
106	Last floating reference value	Value of the floating reference on the date referred to in Data Element Number 107.	N
107	Last floating reference reset date	Most recent date of the floating reference reset.	N
108	Delta	Ratio of the change in the price of the derivative to the change in the price of the underlying interest of the derivative.	N

Data Elements Related to Packages

Data Element Number	Data Element Name	Data Element Description	Made Available to the Public
	Package indicator	Indicator of whether the derivative is a component of a package if	Y
109		(a) 2 or more derivatives that are reported separately by the reporting counterparty are entered into under a single agreement, or	

		(b) 2 or more reports relate to the same derivative and the derivative cannot be reported using a single report as a result of the reporting requirements of one or more jurisdictions of Canada or one or more foreign jurisdictions.	
110	Package identifier	Identifier of the package referred to in Data Element Number 109.	N
111	Package transaction price	Price of the package referred to in Data Element Number 109.	N
112	Package transaction price currency	Currency in which the package transaction price is denominated.	N
113	Package transaction spread	Price of the package referred to in Data Element 109, expressed as a spread.	N
114	Package transaction spread currency	Currency in which the package transaction spread is denominated.	N
115	Package transaction spread notation	Manner in which the package transaction spread is expressed.	N
116	Package transaction price notation	Manner in which the package transaction price is expressed.	N

Data Elements Related to Product

Data Element Number	Data Element Name	Data Element Description	Made Available to the Public
117	Unique product identifier	Identifier of a unique code assigned by the Derivatives Service Bureau for a type of derivative.	Y
118	CDS index attachment point	Point at which the level of losses in the underlying portfolio of a credit default swap reduces the notional of a tranche.	N
119	CDS index detachment point	Point beyond which losses in the underlying portfolio of a credit default swap no longer reduce the notional of a tranche.	N
120	Index factor	Factor of the index version, or the percentage, used to determine the notional amount of a credit default swap.	Y
121	Crypto asset underlying indicator	Indicator of whether the underlying interest of the derivative is a crypto asset.	N
122	Custom basket code	Unique identifier for a custom basket of reference assets.	N
123	Custom basket indicator	Indicator of whether the derivative has a custom basket as its underlying interest.	Y
124	Basket constituent identifier	Identifier of a reference asset in the custom basket.	N

125	Basket constituent identifier source	Source of the basket constituent identifier referred to in Data Element Number 124.	N
126	Basket constituent number of units	Number of units of each reference asset in the custom basket.	N
127	Basket constituent unit of measure	Unit of measure in which the number of units referred to in Data Element Number 126 is expressed.	N
128	Underlier ID (Other)	Identifier of each underlying interest of the derivative.	N
129	Underlier ID (Other) source	Source of the Underlier ID (Other) referred to in Data Element Number 128.	N
130	Underlying asset trading platform identifier	Identifier of the platform on which the underlying interest referred to in Data Element Number 128 is traded.	N
131	Underlying asset price source	Source of the price used to determine the value or level of the underlying interest referred to in Data Element Number 128.	N
132	Embedded option type	Type of optional provision in a derivative.	Υ

Data Elements Related to Payments and Settlement

Data Element Number	Data Element Name	Data Element Description	Made Available to the Public
133	Final contractual settlement date	Date in the agreement by which all obligations under the derivative are to be satisfied.	N
134	Settlement location	Place of settlement of the derivative.	N
135	Settlement currency	For each leg of the derivative, the currency in which the cash settlement is denominated.	Y
136	Other payment amount	Amount of each payment under the derivative except an option premium amount under Data Element Number 144.	Y
137	Other payment currency	Currency in which the other payment amount referred to in Data Element Number 136 is denominated.	Y
138	Other payment date	Date on which the other payment amount referred to in Data Element Number 136 is to be paid.	N
	Other payment payer	Identifier of the payer of the other payment amount referred to in Data Element Number 136.	N
139			
140	Other payment receiver	Identifier of the receiver of the other payment amount referred to in Data Element Number 136.	N

141	Other payment type	Reason for the payment referred to in Data Element Number 136.	Υ
142	Payment frequency period	For each leg of a derivative, the unit of time of the frequency of payments.	Y
143	Payment frequency period multiplier	For each leg of a derivative, the number by which the payment frequency period is multiplied to determine the frequency of periodic payment dates.	Y
144	Option premium amount	Premium paid by a buyer of an option or swaption.	Y
145	Option premium currency	Currency in which the premium referred to in Data Element Number 144 is denominated.	Y
146	Option premium payment date	Date on which the premium referred to in Data Element Number 144 is paid.	N
147	First exercise date	First date on which an option can be exercised.	Υ
148	Fixing date	For each leg of a derivative, the date on which the reference rate is determined.	N

APPENDIX B TO OSC RULE 91-507 DERIVATIVES: TRADE REPORTING EQUIVALENT TRADE REPORTING LAWS OF FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS SUBJECT TO DEEMED COMPLIANCE PURSUANT TO SUBSECTION 26(5)

The Commission has determined that the laws and regulations of the following jurisdictions outside of Ontario are equivalent for the purposes of the deemed compliance provision in subsection 26(5).

Jurisdiction Law, Regulation and/or Instrument	
	Regulation (EU) 648/2012 of the European Parliament and Council of 4 July 2012 on OTC derivatives, central counterparties and trade repositories
	Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2017/979 of 2 March 2017 amending Regulation (EU) No 648/2012 of the European Parliament and of the Council on OTC derivatives, central counterparties and trade repositories with regard to the list of exempted entities
	Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/460 of 30 January 2019 amending Regulation (EU) No 648/2012 of the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to the list of exempted entities
European Union	Regulation (EU) 2019/834 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 May 2019 amending Regulation (EU) No 648/2012 as regards the clearing obligation, the suspension of the clearing obligation, the reporting requirements, the risk-mitigation techniques for OTC derivative contracts not cleared by a central counterparty, the registration and supervision of trade repositories and the requirements for trade repositories
	Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No 148/2013 of 19 December 2012 supplementing Regulation (EU) No 648/2012 of the European Parliament and of the Council on OTC derivatives, central counterparties and trade repositories with regard to regulatory technical standards on the minimum details of the data to be reported to trade repositories
	Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2017/104 of 19 October 2016 amending Delegated Regulation (EU) No 148/2013 supplementing Regulation (EU) No 648/2012 of the European Parliament and of the Council on OTC derivatives, central counterparties and trade repositories with regard to regulatory technical standards on the

Jurisdiction	Law, Regulation and/or Instrument	
	minimum details of the data to be reported to trade repositories	
	Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No 151/2013 of 19 December 2012 supplementing Regulation (EU) No 648/2012 of the European Parliament and of the Council on OTC derivatives, central counterparties and trade repositories, with regard to regulatory technical standards specifying the data to be published and made available by trade repositories and operational standards for aggregating, comparing and accessing the data	
	Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2017/1800 of 29 June 2017 amending Delegated Regulation (EU) No 151/2013 supplementing Regulation (EU) No 648/2012 of the European Parliament and of the Council	
	Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/361 of 13 December 2018 amending Delegated Regulation (EU) No 151/2013 with regard to access to the data held in trade repositories	
	Commission Implementing Regulation (EU) No 1247/2012 of 19 December 2012 laying down implementing technical standards with regard to the format and frequency of trade reports to trade repositories according to Regulation (EU) No 648/2012 of the European Parliament and of the Council on OTC derivatives, central counterparties and trade repositories	
	Commission Implementing Regulation (EU) 2017/105 of 19 October 2016 amending Implementing Regulation (EU) No 1247/2012 laying down implementing technical standards with regard to the format and frequency of trade reports to trade repositories according to Regulation (EU) No 648/2012 of the European Parliament and of the Council on OTC derivatives, central counterparties and trade repositories	
	Commission Implementing Regulation (EU) 2019/363 of 13 December 2018 laying down implementing technical standards with regard to the format and frequency of reports on the details of securities financing transactions (SFTs) to trade repositories in accordance with Regulation (EU) 2015/2365 of the European Parliament and of the Council and amending Commission Implementing Regulation (EU) No 1247/2012 with regard	

Jurisdiction	Law, Regulation and/or Instrument	
	to the use of reporting codes in the reporting of derivative contracts	
	The Over the Counter Derivatives, Central Counterparties and Trade Repositories (Amendment, etc., and Transitional Provision) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019	
	The Over the Counter Derivatives, Central Counterparties and Trade Repositories (Amendment, etc., and Transitional Provision) (EU Exit) (No. 2) Regulations 2019	
	The Over the Counter Derivatives, Central Counterparties and Trade Repositories (Amendment, etc., and Transitional Provision) (EU Exit) Regulations 2020	
United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern	The Trade Repositories (Amendment and Transitional Provision) (EU Exit) Regulations 2018	
Ireland	The Technical Standards (European Market Infrastructure Regulation) (EU Exit) (No 1) Instrument 2019	
	The Technical Standards (European Market Infrastructure Regulation) (EU Exit) (No 2) Instrument 2019	
	The Technical Standards (European Market Infrastructure Regulation) (EU Exit) (No 3) Instrument 2019	
	The Technical Standards (European Market Infrastructure Regulation) (EU Exit) (No 4) Instrument 2019	
	The Technical Standards (Miscellaneous Amendments) (EU Exit) Instrument 2020	
	CFTC Real-Time Public Reporting of Swap Transaction Data, 17 C.F.R. Part 43	
United States of America	CFTC Swap Data Recordkeeping and Reporting Requirements, 17 C.F.R. Part 45	
	CFTC Swap Data Recordkeeping and Reporting Requirements: Pre-Enactment and Transition Swaps, 17 C.F.R. Part 46	

APPENDIX C TO OSC RULE 91-507 DERIVATIVES: TRADE REPORTING REQUIREMENTS FOR THE PUBLIC DISSEMINATION OF TRANSACTION LEVEL DATA

- 1. Subject to items 2 through 6, a designated trade repository must make available to the public, at no cost, for each data element set out in Appendix A opposite a "Y" in the "Made Available to the Public" column of that appendix, the data elements contained in Table 1 for a derivative in any of the asset classes and underlying asset identifiers listed in Table 2 for all of the following:
 - (a) each derivative reported to the designated trade repository under this Rule;
 - (b) each lifecycle event that changes the pricing of an existing derivative reported to the designated trade repository under this Rule;
 - (c) each cancellation of a reported transaction or a correction of data relating to a transaction that was previously made available to the public, in each case resulting in a derivative referred to in paragraph (a) or a lifecycle event referred to in paragraph (b).

Table 1

#	Data Element Name	Data Element Description	Data Element Format	Allowable Values for Data Element
D1	Dissemination identifier	Unique and random identifier assigned by a designated trade repository for each data message made available to the public.	Varchar(52)	Up to 52 alphanumeric characters
D2	Original dissemination identifier	For the following action types reported to the designated trade repository under Data Element Number 98 of Appendix A, the Dissemination identifier assigned under Data Element Number D1:	Varchar(52)	Up to 52 alphanumeric characters
		(a) Correct;		
		(b) Terminate;		
		(c) Error;		
		(d) Revive;		
		(e) Modify, if the Amendment indicator in Data Element Number 100 of Appendix A is reported to the designated trade repository as True.		
D3	Dissemination timestamp	Date and time, to the nearest second, that a designated trade repository makes data available to the public.	YYYY-MM- DDThh:mm:ssZ, based on Coordinated Universal Time	Any valid date/time based on ISO 8601 Date and time format.

D4	Unique product	A humanly readable	A list of allowable	A list of allowable
	identifier short	description made	values and their	values and their
	name	available by the	format will be	format will be
		Derivatives Service	published by the	published by the
		Bureau corresponding to	Derivatives Service	Derivatives
		the unique product	Bureau.	Service Bureau.
		identifier.		

Table 2

Asset Class	Underlying Asset Identifier
Interest Rate	CAD-BA-CDOR
Interest Rate	USD-LIBOR-BBA
Interest Rate	EUR-EURIBOR-Reuters
Interest Rate	GBP-LIBOR-BBA
Credit	All Indexes
Equity	All Indexes

Exclusions

- 2. Item 1 does not apply to the following:
 - (a) a derivative that requires the exchange of more than one currency;
 - (b) a derivative resulting from a bilateral or multilateral portfolio compression exercise;
 - (c) a derivative resulting from novation by a recognized or exempt clearing agency.

Rounding

3. A designated trade repository must round, in accordance with the rounding conventions contained in Table 3, the notional amount of a derivative for which it makes transaction level data available to the public in accordance with the Rule and item 1 of this Appendix.

Table 3

Reported Notional Amount Leg 1 or 2	Rounded Notional Amount
<1,000	Round to nearest 5
>1,000, <10,000	Round to nearest 100
>10,000, <100,000	Round to nearest 1,000

>100,000, <1 million	Round to nearest 10,000	
>1 million, <10 million	Round to nearest 100,000	
>10 million, <50 million	Round to nearest 1 million	
>50 million, <100 million	Round to nearest 10 million	
>100 million, <500 million	Round to nearest 50 million	
>500 million, <1 billion	Round to nearest 100 million	
>1 billion, <100 billion	Round to nearest 500 million	
>100 billion	Round to nearest 50 billion	

Capping

- 4. If the rounded notional amount, as determined under item 3, of a derivative referred to in item 1 exceeds the capped rounded notional amount, in Canadian dollars, according to the asset class and expiration date less effective date set out in Table 4 for that derivative, a designated trade repository must make available to the public the capped rounded notional amount for the derivative in place of the rounded notional amount.
- 5. When making transaction level data for a derivative to which item 4 applies available to the public, a designated trade repository must state that the notional amount for the derivative has been capped.
- 6. For each derivative referred to in item 1 for which the capped rounded notional amount is made available to the public, if the data to be made available to the public includes an option premium, a recognized trade repository must adjust the option premium in a manner that is consistent with and proportionate to the capping and rounding of the reported notional amount of the derivative.

Table 4

Asset Class	Expiration Date less Effective Date	Capped Rounded Notional Amount in CAD
Interest Rate	Less than or equal to two years	250 million
Interest Rate	Greater than two years and less than or equal to ten years	100 million
Interest Rate	Greater than ten years	50 million
Credit	All dates	50 million
Equity	All dates	50 million

Timing

- 7. A designated trade repository must make the information referred to in item 1 available to the public 48 hours after the time reported for Data Element Number 14 of Appendix A for the derivative.
- 8. If it is not technologically practicable to make the required information available to the public 48 hours after the time reported for Data Element Number 14 of Appendix A for the derivative due to periods of downtime required for operational maintenance, system upgrades, system repairs, disaster recovery exercises or any other exercises related to operating the designated trade repository in accordance with this Rule and its designation order, the designated trade repository must make the required information available to the public as soon as technologically practicable following the conclusion of the period of downtime.